IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTHONY CHRIS ROBERT MARTINEZ, Appellant, vs.	Electronically Filed CASE NO. 8375 Mar 24 2022 02:29 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
Respondent.	

Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court County of Elko, State of Nevada The Honorable Alvin R. Kacin, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MATTHEW PENNELL Elko County Public Defender 569 Court Street Elko, NV 89801 NV Bar Number 13298 AARON D. FORD Nevada Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701 NV Bar Number 7704

TYLER J. INGRAM
Elko County District Attorney
540 Court Street
Elko, NV 89801
NV Bar Number 11819

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The District Court entered its judgment of conviction on October 7, 2021.

Joint Appendix (hereinafter abbreviated "App.") 103-106. The Appellant filed notice of appeal on October 18, 2021. App. 144-145. Since Appellant filed the notice of appeal within thirty (30) days from the entry of the written judgment, notice of appeal is timely per NRAP 4(b)(1)(A) and Nev. Rev. Stat. § \$ 177.015(3) provides this Court with jurisdiction to review the judgment of conviction that Anthony Chris Robert Martinez ("Mr. Martinez") now appeals.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict. Per NRAP 17(b)(2)(A), a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict from a Category B felony is exempt from presumptive assignment to the Nevada Court of Appeals. As such, this case is presumptively assigned to the Supreme Court's routing discretion.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues on appeal in this case are: (1) if there was sufficient evidence to convict of attempted murder and second-degree kidnapping; (2) if the District Court erred when it refused to instruct the jury on gross negligence for law enforcement's failure to gather evidence; and (3) if the District Court errored by substituting its own conclusions for the jury's when sentencing in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The pertinent facts for this case occurred on or about November 17, 2016.

App. 111-117. The State filed the criminal complaint against Mr. Martinez on

November 18, 2016, charging him with the following: Count 1: Attempted Murder

with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 2: Attempted Murder

with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 3: Possession of an

Explosive or Incendiary Device in or Near Certain Public or Private Areas, a

Category D Felony. App. 1-8.

On January 26, 2017, the State filed an amended criminal complaint, including: Count 1: Attempted Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 2: Attempted Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 3: Possession of an Explosive or Incendiary Device in or Near Certain Public or Private Areas, a Category D Felony Count 4: Battery with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 5: Assault with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 6: Assault with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 7: Attempted Robbery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 8: Discharging a Firearm Within a Structure in a Populated Area, a Category B Felony; Count 9: Eluding a Police Officer in a Manner Posing Danger to Persons or Property, a Category B Felony; Count 10: Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony; and Count 11:

Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony; Count 12: Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony; Count 13: Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony; Count 14: Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony. *App. 9-17*.

The State filed a Second Amended Criminal Complaint on November 6, 2018. App. 18-28. This complaint alleged the same offenses as the Amended Criminal Complaint, but added Count 15: Kidnapping, First Degree, with the use of a deadly weapon, a category A Felony. *Id.*

After bind-over, the State filed a Criminal Information on December 21, 2018.

App. 33-41. The charges in the Criminal Information mirrored those from the Second Amended Criminal Complaint. *Id*.

On July 15, 2019, Mr. Martinez filed a motion to consolidate Counts 10 through 14. *App. 45-52*. The State Opposed the motion. The District Court granted the motion, and the State filed a writ to this court. *State v. Fourth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev.*, 481 P.3d 848, 137 Nev. Adv. Rep. 4.(Nev. 2021). This Court denied the State's petition. *Id*.

On March 9, 2021, the State filed an Amended Criminal Information consolidating Counts 11 through 14 into a single count, with Count 15 becoming count 11. *App.* 78-85.

On May 20, 2021, Mr. Martinez filed a Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative Require a Jury Instruction Favorable to the Defense. App. 86-103. Mr. Martinez asked the District Court to dismiss or instruct on gross negligence for several counts, but the only conviction relevant for this appeal is Kidnapping in the 2nd degree with the Use of a Deadly Weapon. App. 90(the remaining counts at issue in the Motion being moot because of acquittals and dismissals prior to sentencing, and the jury convicting Mr. Martinez of the lesser-included-offense of Kidnapping in the 2nd Degree rather than Kidnapping in the 1st degree). The State filed its Opposition on June 1, 2021. App. 104-110. The District Court held a hearing on the motion on June 10, 2021. App. 188-127. The District Court initially denied the motion App. 128-132. At the close of evidence at trial, Mr. Martinez renewed the motion in part, asking for an instruction for gross negligence regarding law enforcement's failure to gather evidence, which the court denied. App. 531-533. On May 21, 2021, Mr. Martinez filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence. See,

App. 111-117. On June 1, 2021, the State filed a Reply to Motion to Suppress and Motion to Dismiss Count 3 of the Amended Criminal Information. *Id.* The District

20

19

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Court ordered that evidence suppressed and dismissed Count 3 at the hearing for the motion on June 10, 2021. *App. 118-120*.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

The State filed a Second Amended Criminal Information on June 16, 2021. App. 111-117. The Counts were as follows: 1: Attempted Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony (Officer Pantelakis); Count 2: Attempted Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony (Officer Sanchez); Count 3: Battery with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 4: Assault with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 5: Assault with a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 6: Attempted Robbery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category B Felony; Count 7: Discharging a Firearm Within a Structure in a Populated Area, a Category B Felony; Count 8: Eluding a Police Officer in a Manner Posing Danger to Persons or Property, a Category B Felony; Count 9: Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense, a Category B Felony; Count 10: Kidnapping, First Degree, with the use of a deadly weapon, a category A Felony, a Category B Felony. *Id.*

The trial commenced on July 6, 2021. *App. 158-272*. Before the reading of jury instructions to the jury, the State moved to dismiss Count 7: Discharging a Firearm Within a Structure in a Populated Area. *App. 534*. The District Court dismissed the charge. *Id*. After the parties concluded arguments, the jury convicted Mr. Martinez of Counts 1, 3, 4, 8, and the lesser-included offense of Second-Degree

Kidnapping with a Deadly Weapon in Count 10. The jury acquitted Mr. Martinez of Counts 2, 5, and 6. *App. 551-552*. Rather than proceed with the second part of the bifurcated trial, the State moved to dismiss Count 9 (Possession of a Firearm by a Person Previously Convicted of a Felony Offense). *Id*.

On July 19, 2021, Mr. Martinez filed a motion for new trial (regarding Counts 3 and 4). *App. 133-135*. In response, the State submitted a Motion and Order for Dismissal of Two Counts and Non-Opposition (regarding counts 3 and 4) which the District Court granted on October 6, 2021. *App. 140-143*.

On October 1, 2021, the District Court sentenced Mr. Martinez on Count 1
Attempted Murder with a Deadly Weapon, Count 8 Eluding a Police Officer in a
Manner Posing Danger to Persons or Property, and Count 10 Second-Degree
Kidnapping with a Deadly Weapon to eight-hundred-and-forty (840) months
imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections with the minimum aggregate
term of imprisonment being three-hundred-and-thirty-six (336) months. *App. 136-139*. As of October 1, 2021, Mr. Martinez had served one-thousand-two-hundred-and-eight (1208) days. *Id*.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 17, 2021, Anthony Martinez came to the Southern X-Posure strip club located in West Wendover, Nevada. *App. 283-284,301-302*. Rosendo Herrera, a security guard at Southern X-Posure, met Mr. Martinez at the front door

around 7 P.M. App. 283-284. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Martinez returned between 8:30 P.M. and 9:00 P.M. App. 285. Both Mr. Herrera and the manager of Southern X-Posure, Manuel Ruiz Barbosa, met Mr. Martinez near the front door. App. 285-286, 301-302. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Martinez had a gun. App. 285-286. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Martinez and Mr. Ruiz Barbosa went outside, came back, and stopped after coming in the front entrance. *Id.* Mr. Herrera and Mr. Barbosa testified that Mr. Martinez then pointed a gun at Mr. Herrera and Mr. Ruiz Barbosa. App. 285-286, 303-304. Id. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Ruiz Barbosa grabbed Mr. Martinez' gun, and then both Mr. Ruiz Barbosa and Mr. Martinez went back outside a second time. Id. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Ruiz Barbosa and Mr. Martinez did this a second and third time. Id. When Mr. Martinez came back inside, Mr. Herrera claimed that Mr. Martinez hit him in the back of the head with the gun. App. 287. At this point, Mr. Ruiz Barbosa left the room and did not see anything else that transpired inside the club. App. 303.

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Martinez forced him to walk inside the club. *Id*. Hr. Herrera then testified that Mr. Martinez hit him with the gun again, demanded money, and shot a bullet past his left ear. *Id*. Ruta Murphy, a dancer at the club, saw Mr. Martinez hit Mr. Herrera. *App. 298-299*. Ms. Murphy did not see anything else after that. *Id*. But she did hear a shotgun fire before leaving through the emergency exit. *App. 299*

Mr. Herrera said that he offered Mr. Martinez money, placing it on the club stage. *App. 287-288*. Mr. Herrera testified that lights in the club started flashing and an alarm sounded. *Id.* Mr. Herrera told Mr. Martinez, "[t]he cops are coming." *App. 288*. After that Mr. Martinez apparently forced Mr. Herrera to leave the club. *Id.* Before leaving the building, Mr. Martinez struck Mr. Herrera with the gun near the front desk. *Id.* Mr. Martinez forced Mr. Herrera to put his hands down. *App. 288-289*. Both men left the club side-by-side. *App. 289*. Mr. Herrera testified that Mr. Martinez still had his gun drawn when they left the club. *App. 293-294*.

But Mr. Herrera admitted that when he testified at a previous hearing, when his memory of the event was better, that Mr. Martinez already had his gun in his pocket when they left the club. *App. 294*. Also, Mr. Herrera testified that when they left the club, Mr. Martinez did not point a gun at him, Mr. Martinez did not fire the gun, Mr. Martinez did not yell at him, and Mr. Martinez did not physically grab him. *Id*. Mr. Herrera ran away, and Mr. Martinez did not chase him. *Id*.

Mr. Martinez left the club in his car. *App. 474*. Officers chased Mr. Martinez down the main boulevard of West Wendover. *App. 322-323*. During the chase, Mr. Martinez crashed his car into a guard rail in front of the Rainbow Casino. *App. 323*, 474. Mr. Martinez was dazed and in and out of consciousness. *App. 474*. He only remembers opening the car door, being told to keep his hands up, and trying to keep his "guts" inside his body. *App. 474-475*.

Officer Pantelakis testified that he was following Mr. Martinez and parked his vehicle about 30 yards behind the now crashed vehicle. *App. 324*. Officer Pantelakis got out of his vehicle, drew his weapon, and walked towards Mr. Martinez's vehicle. *Id.* Officer Pantelakis saw the driver side of the car open, watched Mr. Martinez exit the vehicle, and saw him making punching movements. *Id.* Less than a second later, Officer Pantelakis was firing at Mr. Martinez *App. 327*. Officer Pantelakis fired shots while walking backwards, fired more as he fell to the ground, and fired more after getting back up. *App. 328*. Officer Pantelakis had a body-worn camera and a dash-camera in his vehicle. *App. 326-327*. Neither device captured any moment of the pursuit or shooting. *Id.*

Officer Alejandro Sanchez was involved in the pursuit, and after the crash, he parked his car in the median to the left of Officer Pantelakis' parked car. *App. 378*, 384. Officer Sanchez saw Officer Pantelakis walk toward the crashed car. *Id.* Officer Sanchez heard gunshots. *App. 379*. Officer Sanchez claimed that he was being shot at. *App. 335*. Officer Sanchez pointed his service rifle at Mr. Martinez and fired. Id. Mr. Martinez had three bullet wounds: one to his abdomen, one that blew his calf off, and a wound to the other calf. *App 387-388*.

At trial, Officer Sanchez listened to an interview with a detective and himself that occurred the day after the shooting. *App. 379-383*. Officer Sanchez admitted that during that interview he never mentioned that Mr. Martinez' arm was extended

towards him, he never mentioned seeing Mr. Martinez' gun, and never mentioned Mr. Martinez firing his gun at him. *Id*. The jury acquitted Mr. Martinez of the attempted murder charge with Officer Sanchez as the listed victim.

Several law enforcement officers continued the investigation. Officer

Fernando Uribe, went to the Southern-Xposure to "preserve any type of evidence."

App 313. Officer Uribe met the club manager, Mr. Ruiz-Barbosa. Id. Officer Uribe testified that it was his duty to investigate any crimes that occurred at the Southern-XPosure. App 313-314. Officer Uribe was aware that the club had video surveillance.

App. 314. Officer Uribe was aware the Southern-Xposure had a surveillance system that covered most of the club. App 315. Officer Uribe knew based on his training and experience that the surveillance videos were important to his investigation, that they could get erased or lost, and that he needed to obtain and preserve them as soon as possible. Id. Officer Uribe did not obtain any of the surveillance footage from any camera. Id.

Detective Jonathon Moore and Detective Mike Marshowsky of the Elko Police department also participated in the investigation at Southern-XPosure. *App 395-398*. Detective Moore knew that collecting video surveillance there was important, especially since it was part of his training as a detective to do so. *App. 396*. Neither Detective Moore nor Detective Marshowsky asked any club employee about obtaining surveillance. *App 395-398*. Both detectives agreed that these types of clubs

often have surveillance systems and that it would be unusual for them not to. *Id*.

Neither Detective Moore nor Detective Marshowsky collected video surveillance. *Id*.

Mr. Ruiz Barbosa testified that the club did have a surveillance system with approximately twenty-four cameras. *App 304, 308*. Those cameras covered nearly every part of the club save for the private areas. *App 308*. Importantly, that on November 17, 2021, he had access to the system. *Id.* He also said that not a single law enforcement officer asked him for any surveillance footage that day. *Id.* Mr. Ruiz Barbosa did later provide two abridged videos and two photographs from the surveillance system from two different cameras. *App 304-305, 308*. Mr. Ruiz Barbosa erased the full videos from the two cameras that caught some video and all the footage from the other twenty-two cameras. *App. 305, 308*.

Not a single law enforcement officer ever approached Mr. Ruiz Barbosa with a request for the surveillance footage despite him interacting with several officers with several officers. *App. 308*. This despite at least three officers being on scene to collect evidence. This despite approximately thirteen officers from the West Wendover Police Department being part of the response and investigation. *App. 315*. This despite officers from the Elko Police Department, the Elko County Sherriff's Office, Nevada Highway Patrol, the Nevada Division of Investigation, and the Utah Highway Patrol responding and assisting the West Wendover Police Department. *App. 315-316*.

At sentencing, the District Court judge stated, "now I realize the defendant was not convicted of attempting to murder Sanchez, but the fact of the matter is that guy was there taking fire from Mr. Martinez." *App. 586*. Even though the District Court judge admitted that Officer Sanchez was not a victim and Sanchez did not submit a victim impact statement, the judge determined that the Court had already seen a victim impact statement based on the testimony at trial and how upsetting the experience was to Officer Sanchez. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury had insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Martinez of attempted murder and second-degree kidnapping. The District Court erred when it refused to instruct the jury that law enforcement's failure to gather evidence was grossly negligent. The District Court abused its discretion by usurping the jury's authority to find the existence of any fact the law makes essential for punishment.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, this Court reviews a District Court's legal conclusions de novo while reviewing factual findings for clear error. *Somee v. State*, 124 Nev. 434, 441, 187 P.3d 152, 157-158(Nev. 2008). The Court can reverse a jury verdict when substantial evidence does not support the verdict. *Hernandez v. State*, 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112(Nev. 2002). The standard of reviewing the sufficiency of

the evidence is to determine if the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced by competent evidence of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* This Court reviews the District Court's refusal to grant a jury instruction for abuse of discretion. *Brooks v. State*, 124 Nev. 203, 206, 180 P.3d 657, 658-659(Nev. 2008). Abuse of discretion is the standard to review a District Court's sentencing decision. *Goodson v. State*, 98 Nev. 493, 495-496, 654 P.2d 1006, 1007(Nev. 1982).

A. The Evidence was Insufficient to Convict Mr. Martinez.

Attempted murder requires the State to show an intent to kill, malice aforethought, and failure to complete the crime of murder. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 193.330, 200.010, 200.020, 200.030, *Jackson v. State*, 128 Nev. 598, 607, 291 P.3d 1274, 1280(Nev. 2012). Additionally, malice aforethought must be express rather than implied. *Keys v. State*, 104 Nev. 736, 740-742, 766 P.2d 270, 273-274(Nev. 1988)(ruling that one cannot attempt to kill another with implied malice because attempt, by nature, is a failure to accomplish what one intended to do; thus one cannot attempt to be negligent or attempt to have general malignant recklessness contemplated by the legal concept of implied malice). And, though, deliberation does not itself constitute an element of murder, its existence helps determine whether someone committed the crime with express malice. *State v. Milosovich*, 42 Nev. 263, 277, 175 P. 139, 142(Nev. 1918).

There was insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Martinez had the intent to kill Officer Pantelakis. The testimony was not supported by any video from Officer

Pantelakis' body-worn camera or dash-cam. Given how rapidly the events unfolded after the car crash, there is almost no way to tell who fired their gun first. Officer Pantelakis testified that within a second of seeing punching movements, he fired his gun. It is not possible to discern beyond a reasonable doubt if Mr. Martinez was shooting first or simply reacting to gun fire. That is coupled with the fact that Mr. Martinez was dazed, slipping in and out of consciousness, and holding his innards inside his body. Attempted murder makes if very specific that a person must have express malice before a conviction for attempted murder can stand. Also, deliberation helps assist the trier of fact to determine if express malice exists, and here, the combination of being discombobulated and rapidly unfolding events cannot support the idea that Mr. Martinez deliberated or possessed the state of mind necessary to show he acted with express malice.

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