| 1 | | |
|----|--|--------------|
| 2 | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA | |
| 3 | Electronically Fil Apr 15 2022 01: | ed 54 p m |
| 4 | ANTHONY CHRIS ROBERT MARTINEZ, Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Suprem | ψ'n |
| 5 | Appellant, | |
| 6 | vs. CASE NO.83754 | |
| 7 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, | |
| 8 | Respondent. | |
| 9 | | |
| 10 | Appeal From The Fourth Judicial District Court Of The State of Nevada | |
| 11 | In And For The County Of Elko | |
| 12 | RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF | |
| 13 | THE HONORABLE AARON D. FORD ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA | |
| 14 | 100 N. CARSON STREET CARSON CITY, NV 89701 | |
| 15 | TYLER J. INGRAM MATTHEW PENNELL | |

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

| The State accepts Martinez' statement of facts and it simply cites to |
|---|
| additional facts in support of its arguments below which are contained in the |
| Joint Appendix and Joint Supplemental Appendix. |

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, there was sufficient evidence to prove that Martinez intended to kill Officer Pantelakis based on his motive, use of a deadly weapon (firearm), video evidence, law enforcement testimony, and independent eyewitness testimony.

Second, there was also sufficient evidence to prove that the kidnapping was not incidental to any other crime because Martinez was not convicted of any other crime directly related to the kidnapping, and there was sufficient evidence for any trier of fact to conclude that Herrera was detained against his will.

Third, the District Court did not err in denying Martinez' request for an adverse jury instruction because he failed to show materiality and the failure to collect was mere negligence.

Finally, the record is abundantly clear that the District Court did not treat Officer Sanchez as a victim, and even if did, it was harmless error because the sentence that Martinez received was within the statutory parameters.

||///

19 || / / /

20 || / / /

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A. The Evidence was Sufficient to Convict

Attempted Murder with the use of a Deadly Weapon

Martinez argues that the evidence was not sufficient to convict him of attempted murder – specifically that the evidence was insufficient to show that he had the intent to kill Officer Pantelakis. The State disagrees and so did the jury. Importantly, Martinez does not argue that the evidence was insufficient to prove any other element of attempted murder; therefore, the State will not address those other elements and the sufficiency of proof thereof.

"The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. There is sufficient evidence if the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, would allow any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Leonard v. State*, 114 Nev. 1196, 1209-1210 (1998) (internal citations omitted).

Attempted murder "is the performance of an act or acts which tend, but fail, to kill a human being, when such acts are done with express malice, namely, with the deliberate intention unlawfully to kill." *Keys v. State*, 104 Nev. 736, 740 (1988); also see NRS 193.330 and NRS 200.020. Intent to kill "can rarely be proven by direct evidence of a defendant's state of mind "*Sharma v. State*, 118 Nev. 648, 659 (2002). Intent to kill can be inferred "from the facts and circumstances ... such as the use of a weapon calculated to produce death, the manner of use, and the attendant circumstances characterizing the act." *Washington v. State*, 132 Nev. 655, 662 (2016). "[C]ircumstantial evidence may constitute the sole basis for a conviction." *Canape v. State*, 109 Nev. 864, 869 (1993).

The jury was properly instructed on the elements of attempted murder with the use of a deadly weapon. *Supp. App.* 12. The jury was properly instructed that the crime is a specific intent crime. *Supp. App.* 26 and 30. The jury was properly instructed on express malice. *Supp. App.* 29, 31, and 32.

Martinez relies nearly entirely on the fact that the incident was not captured by Officer Pantelakis' body-worn camera or dash-camera. Martinez failed to mention that it was captured on Officer Sanchez's dash-camera and that was admitted at trial as Exhibit 103 and played for the jury. The State will file a Motion with this Court to have that exhibit transmitted.

Immediately after committing at least second-degree kidnapping with the use of a deadly weapon at the strip club, Martinez eluded police officers – i.e. Martinez endeavored to flee from cops so as not to get caught for the act(s) which he just committed. *App.* 322, p. 192-197. When Martinez crashed his vehicle while eluding cops, he immediately got out of his vehicle and began firing at Officer Pantelakis and then Officer Sanchez. *App.* 324, p. 198-200. Martinez fired his gun at least 11 times as evidenced by the bullet casings found at the scene. *App.* 409-411. That motive provided substantial evidence of express malice. 11 shots fired at police officers is absolutely a clear intention to kill. Martinez's DNA was on the gun that he fired. *App.* 464, p. 106.

Martinez argues that there is almost no way to tell who fired their gun first. The State strongly disagrees. Not only does Exhibit 103 show Martinez getting out of his vehicle and pointing in the direction of Officer Pantelakis, but the familiar and unmistakable sound of shots can be heard. Pantelakis was very clear in his testimony – he did not fire first. Martinez fired first. Additionally, an independent eyewitness, Andrew Schumaker, who was stopped across the street from the incident, testified that it was man who crashed the vehicle, Martinez, who shot first and he was shooting in the direction of the officers. *App.* 318.

1 | in 3 | r 4 | in 5 | M 6 | v 7 | b 8 | c 6

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Martinez makes mention of the fact that he was holding his innards inside his body. The State submits that is irrelevant to any argument regarding the State proving intent to kill beyond a reasonable doubt because it was very evident that Martinez was shot by officers which occurred after Martinez fired at the officers. His intent was formed before a single bullet was fired by law enforcement. Likewise, being dazed and confused is belied by the video. Martinez, as captured in Exhibit 103, appears to be very calculated in his movements. Martinez knew exactly what he was trying to do and that was to kill an officer.

Viewing that evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, this isn't a close call. As pointed out in *Sharma*, we can rarely prove a defendant's intent by direct evidence; however, shooting at officers 11 times after eluding those same officers after committing a felony is not only circumstantial evidence of Martinez's intent, but also very strong circumstantial evidence. That evidence would allow any rational trier of fact to find the essential element of intent to kill beyond a reasonable doubt.

Second Degree Kidnapping with the use of a Deadly Weapon

The same standard applies. "The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. There is

sufficient evidence if the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, would allow any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Leonard v. State*, 114 Nev. 1196, 1209-1210 (1998) (internal citations omitted).

NRS 200.310(2) states, "A person who willfully and without authority of law seizes, inveigles, takes, carries away or kidnaps another person with the intent to keep the person secretly imprisoned within the State, or for the purpose of conveying the person out of the State without authority of law, or in any manner held to service or detained against the person's will, is guilty of kidnapping in the second degree which is a category B felony." The jury was instructed as such. *Supp. App.* 22.

The jury was also instructed that in order to find Martinez guilty of Kidnapping in the second degree with or without the use of a deadly weapon, that it must conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that 1) any movement of Rosendo Herrera was not incidental to that necessary to attempt to commit robbery upon him or from him; or 2) any incidental movement of Rosendo Herrera substantially increased the risk of harm to him over and above that necessary to attempt to commit robbery upon of from him; or 3) any incidental movement of Rosendo Herrera substantially exceeded that required to commit robbery upon or from him; or 4) the

movement had an independent purpose or significance. Supp. App. 23. That jury instruction complies with this Court's holding in *Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, (2006).

Martinez argues that there was insufficient evidence to support second degree kidnapping with the use of a deadly weapon because there was no evidence that Martinez specifically intended to seize Herrera to secretly imprison him or convey him outside the State of Nevada. He also argues that there was insufficient evidence to show that Martinez detained Herrera in a manner that was not incidental to the offenses the jury convicted Martinez for.

The first argument is easy to dispose of. Even if there was no evidence that Martinez intended to imprison Herrera or convey him outside of the State of Nevada, that's not dispositive because there are other ways to commit that crime – namely that Herrera was detained against his will. NRS 200.310(2).

Here, Herrera testified that after Martinez hit him in the head with the gun, that Martinez told him to put his hands up and they walked 5 steps during which Martinez asked Herrera where the money was. *App.* 287, p. 50-51. Even after Herrera told Martinez that there was no money, Martinez kept asking for money. *App.* 287, p. 51. Martinez then fired his gun near

1 Herr
2 empt
3 Mart
4 mone
5 Herr
6 told
7 Herr
8 outsi
9 outsi
10 Herr
11 Mart
12 that

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Herrera's left ear. Id. After Martinez again asked for money, Herrera emptied his pockets and put money from his wallet on the stage and told Martinez to take the money. App. 287, p. 52. Martinez did not take the money. App. 288, p. 54. When the emergency alarm and lights started, Herrera told Martinez that the cops were coming. App. 288, p. 56. Martinez told Herrera to put his hands up and "let's go outside." Martinez told Herrera, "put your hands down motherfucker." Herrera did not want to go outside with Martinez, but felt like he had to. App. 289, p. 57. While outside, Herrera was able to run away back inside the club. *Id.* While Herrera testified that Martinez put his gun in his pocket, Herrera knew that Martinez still had the gun. App. 296, p. 85. This evidence clearly showed that Martinez detained Herrera against his will. That's second-degree kidnapping.

For the second argument it is important to note that the jury found Martinez guilty of Battery with the use of a Deadly Weapon (Herrera); guilty of Assault with a Deadly Weapon (Barbosa); and guilty of Second-Degree Kidnapping with the use of a deadly weapon (Herrera); and NOT guilty of attempted robbery. *App.* 552, p. 105.

Martinez argues that the "relevant inquiry" for this argument are the convictions for Assault with a Deadly Weapon and Battery with a Deadly

1 | N 2 | A 3 | c 4 | M 5 | v 6 | E 7 | a

9

8

11

12

10

13

14

15

16 17

18

19

20

Weapon. Immediately, this Court may dispose of his argument based on the Assault with a Deadly Weapon conviction because that conviction was for a crime committed against a different victim than the kidnapping. Certainly, Martinez cannot successfully argue that the Assault with a Deadly Weapon was incidental to the Kidnapping. The Assault with a Deadly against Barbosa occurred well-before the Kidnapping. *App.* 286, p. 45-47. Those are separate and distinct crimes. The Assault with a Deadly Weapon clearly stood alone with an independent significance. *See Mendoza*, supra, at 275.

Moreover, Martinez was NOT ultimately convicted of Battery with a Deadly Weapon nor was he convicted of Assault with a Deadly Weapon because the State asked the court to dismiss those counts and it did. *App.* 140-142. Therefore, the jury's finding of guilt on those two counts is of no consequence because Martinez was not subjected to dual criminal liability as stated in *Mendoza*.

Finally, as to Martinez's argument that that there was insufficient evidence to show that the kidnapping was not incidental to the battery with a deadly weapon, the record overwhelmingly showed that the kidnapping occurred after the times that Martinez struck Herrera with the gun. Herrera was inside the club when those acts occurred. Martinez forced Herrera to leave the club against his will. Martinez, even if he did not yell at Herrera,

1

3

4

5

6

7

9

8

10

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

did not fire the gun at Herrera, did not physically grab Herrera, and did not chase after Herrera when Herrera ran, completed the crime of kidnapping when he detained Herrera against his will.

B. The District Court did NOT error by Denying Martinez's Request for Adverse Jury Instruction

Martinez argues that the District Court erred when it denied his request to give the jury an adverse jury instruction as it relates to the kidnapping conviction only. Specifically, he argues that the District Court should have found that law enforcement was grossly negligent by not collecting video surveillance from the club; therefore, the District Court should have instructed the jury that the uncollected video would have been unfavorable to the State. The State does not contest the point that law enforcement failed to collect potentially available video surveillance from the club; however, at least two video clips provided by Mr. Barbosa, were introduced into evidence. App. 310, p. 142 (trial exhibit 106). Those videos were given to law enforcement by Barbosa. App. 304, p. 119. Barbosa also testified that he had other videos, but he, not law enforcement, accidentally erased them. *App.* 305, p. 121.

"The district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions, and this court reviews the district court's decision for an abuse of that discretion

or judicial error. An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." *Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 746, 748 (2005). Failure to collected evidence requires a two-part analysis. First, the defense must show that the evidence was material – "that there is a reasonable that, had the evidence been available to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different". *Daniels v. State*, 114 Nev. 261, 267 (1998). Second, "[i]f the evidence is material, the court must determine whether the failure to gather evidence was the result of mere negligence, gross negligence, or a bad faith attempt to prejudice the defendant's case." *Id*.

The District Court twice considered this issue – once before trial and once during the settling of jury instructions. *App.* 118 (pretrial motions hearing); *App.* 531. Both times, the District Court had the opportunity to observe the witnesses who testified regarding their failure to collect video surveillance from the club. The District Court was in the best position to judge the credibility of those witnesses and it determined that law enforcement did not act in a grossly negligent manner. Instead, it was mere negligence. *App.* 532, p. 28. The District Court made a specific finding that the evidence was not material. *App.* 533, p. 29.

Here, Martinez failed to show that the uncollected video surveillance was material. In support of his argument that they were material, Martinez argues, "The surveillance videos would have provided a panoramic and continuous view of Mr. Martinez' entry into the club, his actions while inside the club, and the actions of others inside the club. Appellant's Opening Brief, p.17. That is a conclusory statement unsupported by the record in this case. Martinez cannot know whether everything was or was not captured on video. There was clear testimony regarding the kidnapping and the State submits that the video surveillance would have corroborated the State's witnesses' testimony, not refuted it. The only evidence whatsoever that may be considered to contradict the witnesses was Martinez' own testimony. His testimony was completely unbelievable and contradicted by the evidence presented at trial. Even the District Court questioned, outside the presence of the jury during its ruling on the adverse jury instruction request, Martinez' testimony.

Martinez further argues that the evidence is related and material to his argument regarding whether the kidnapping was incidental to the other charges. In addition to the State's argument that this argument is moot because Martinez was not convicted of any other crime related to the

20

14

15

16

17

18

kidnapping, there was also substantial evidence that the kidnapping was not incidental as argued above.

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